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CAUSE NO.
MATTHEW MULLINS, S IN THE DISTRICT COURT
N
N
Plaintiff, S
V. S HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS
S e
CARTIVA, INC., WRIGHT MEDICAL S @)&
GROUP, N.V.,,AND STRYKER B.V., S
g S
Defendants. S JUDICIA}@STRICT
&
I

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL PETITION ©)

Q

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT: &)

9

NOW COMES, MATTHEW MULLINS, Plaintiff in thve numbered and entitled matter and

tiles Plaintiff’s Original Petition complaining of Defendant@@%va, Inc., Wright Medical Group, N.V., and

Stryker B.V.. As turther proot thereof, Plaintiff WOUI%@@ unto the Court the following:
Q)

>

DISé%Q ERY LEVEL

Plantitt intends to conduct disco under Level II because this suit involves only monetary relief

Q.

over $250,000.00 but less than $£000,000.00, excluding interest, statutory or punitive damages and
N

penalties, and attorney’s fees an@ﬁs.
O
\@D
A
@

@%\@) IDENTITY OF PARTIES

Plaintiff, Q@T THEW MULLINS 1s an individual residing in Brazoria County Texas.

Defe%?nt Cartiva, Inc. 1s, and at all times relevant to this action, was a corporation with its
principal place of business and headquarters located at 6120 Windward Parkway, Suite 220, Alpharetta,
Georgta 30005, and process may be served upon its registered agent, CI Corporation System, 289 South
Culver Street, Lawrenceville, Georgia 30046-4805.

Detendant Wright Medical Group, N.V. 1s, and at all times relevant to this action, was a
1



corporation with its principal place of business and headquarters located at 1023 Cherry Road, Memphis,
Tennessee 38117, and process may be served upon its registered agent, C1' Corporation System, 300

Montvue Road, Knoxville, Tennessee 37919-5546.

Detendant Stryker, B.V., 1s, and at all times relevant to this action, was a corporation with its
=
principal place of business and headquarters located at 2825 Airview Boulevard, K@zoo, Michigan
49002, and process may be served upon its registered agent, CT Corporation Sy, @40600 Ann Arbor
N Xe
Road E., Ste. 201, Plymouth, Michigan 48170-4675. &
At all imes material hereto, Defendants Stryker, B.V., Wright T’%al Group, N.V. and Cartiva,
Inc. (hereinafter referred to collectively as “Detendants”) develop@g?ested, assembled, manufactured,
packaged, labeled, prepared, distributed, marketed, supplied, and@old the detective product sold under

the name “Cartiva SCI” (hereinafter “Cartiva” or “Defec ' Device”), either directly or indirectly, to

members of the general public within the State of Tex@cludmg Plaintift.

Detendants are conclusively presumed t been doing business in this state and are subject to
Texas' long arm jurisdiction. é
12
S
}@DICTION AND VENUE

Jurisdiction and venue arg‘%roper within this Court as all or a substantial portion of the

Q
events at issue occurred Wi@arﬁs County, Texas and Plaintitt 1s seeking a recovery within the jurisdiction

limits of this Court. El@ff is seeking monetary relief over $250,000.00 but less than $1,000,000.00,

O
excluding interest,%gétutory or punitive damages and penalties, and attorney’s fees and costs.

o



FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Plantift files the instant suit against Defendants seeking compensation for mnjuries and damages
Plantift sustained as a result of the implantation of Cartiva Toe Implant (the Defective Device) into

Plaintitt. &\“é

In June 2019, Plaintift underwent implantation of Defendants' Defectivice at Memorial
)

Hermann Hospital in Houston, Texas, by Dr. William Granberry. On October @3\2021 Plaintiff went to

Dr. Taggart Gauvin with recurring, ongoing and immense pain in his gre%t%? Dr. Gauvin told him the

Defective Product had failed. @

@5@

In addition to a loss of range of motion of the great toe, @kiintitf experienced loss of mobility,
nerve damage and debilitating pain of the Right great toe, alg@t}l constant irritation and discomfort in
the location of the artificial Cartiva device. @@

As a result of the implantation of the Defec@evice, Plaintiff has suffered additional medical
expenses for removal of the implant, the impl@ (;f an Arthrosurface implant, and thereafter another
surgery whereby bone was taken out of Plaint@'s ankle and was used to "fuse" his big toe bones together,

all of which was needed to correct th%&%%eforrmty and bone loss caused by the Detective Device, and

causing additional loss of income %g\pf( suffering, and impairment.
@C@Q
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NEGLIGENCE, NEGLIGENCE PER SE, & GROSS NEGLIGENCE

Plaintitt(s) would show that Deftendant owed Plaintiff(s) a duty to:

1. Adequately design and test said medical device(s);

=
2. Adequately wam the public of any deficiencies with the medical device(s) it m \‘?ures;

N

3. To maintain records available for public and all interested parties regarding its % ical device(s); and

4. To properly educate consumers and doctors of the risks associa@lth its medical device(s);

<,

Detfendant, aware of the risks involved in implanting said medical deeached these duties with

conscious indifference to the rights, safety and weltare of Plaintitt(s) and r medical patients alike.

@

Defendant’s acts, when viewed objectively from his/her standpoir& e time 1t occurred, involved an
extreme degree of risk, considering the probability and magni@ of the potential harm to others. As such,

Defendant(s) are directly liable for his/her breach(es) ﬁ@@gﬁ)ximately caused Plaintiff(s) to suffer physical,
S
emotional, and economic injury. §@

B. Insurance Carriers Consider@xtiva Experimental
Detendants have a duty to be trg\ about the risks of their products in marketing and
promotion of the product. Yet, De fengints have suppressed medical industry knowledge from the FDA
and public that Cartiva implant@@%ﬁ a high failure rate due to migration of the implant caused by

implant shrinkage. \()
o 81
o0
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¢ Baumhauer JF, @ 1, Glazebrook M, Blundell C, IDe Vrdes G, Le 1L, Nielsen 13, Pedersen ME,
Sakellariou A, S’\@ M, Wanshrough G, Younger AS, Daniels T; for and on behalf of the CARTIVA
Motion Study /%\\Lﬁ Prospective, Randomized, Multi-centered Clinical Tral Assessing Safety and
Etticacy of a Synthetic Cartlage Iroplant Versus First Metatarsophalangeal Arthrodess 10 Advanced
Hallux Rigidus. Foot Ankle Int. 2016 May;37(5):457-69. doi: 10,1177 /1071 100716635560, Epub 2016 Feb
27, PMID: 269220669,

o
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The Motion Study has been widely criticized by industry experts because of its insufficient
sample size prompting Cigna to deem the use of the Cartiva implant to treat big toe arthritis
“experimental” based upon the lack of sutticient scientific evidence to support the successtul treatment
claims made by Defendants.® \Cé

In support of its position, Cigna cited the Hayes study which found individual@%ome measures
are inconsistent and some suggest better outcomes with arthrodesis (“fusion pro‘c’ggjre ). The body of

<,

evidence is limited by the publication of one “Motion” study within which r@@xs were conflicting and
did not demonstrate a clear benefit of the Cartiva implant over the gold s@d tusion surgery. The Hayes
report concluded that a very-low-quality body of evidence 1s insufﬁo draw conclusions regarding
the effectiveness and safety of Cartiva implant for treatment of&@\/ﬁlj joint arthritis. Substantial
uncertainty exists due to a single identitied trial, 1ncons1ster§;s within the individual study results, and
lack of long-term comparative effectiveness data. La %‘dies assessing the comparative effectiveness
and safety ot the Cartiva implant are needed. §@

Defendants’ original study, Baumhauétet al. (2016) (“aka the Motion Study”) reported on a
prospective, randomized non—inferiori@% to compare the efticacy and safety of the Cartiva implant
to great toe fusion surgery for adva@i—stage hallux rigidus. The study included 152 implant and 50
arthrodesis patients. The three ary study outcomes assessed were pain, function, and safety. There
were no cases of 1mplant& entation, wear, or bone loss. This study is the basis of the PMA approval

@

tor the Cartiva impla
'

<@

¥ Partial or total replacement of the first MTP joint or any other foot joint using ANY of the following
1s considered experimental, investigational or unproven: Page 2 of 12 Medical Coverage Policy: 0446

+ _ceramic implant (e.g., Moje prosthesis [Orthosonics, Ltd., Devon UK])

+ _synthetic cartilage implant (e.g., Cartiva Synthetic Cartilage Implant)



Cigna also recognized that clinical practice guidelines suggest a different implant design is
recommended which renders the Cartiva implant unreasonably dangerous by design. Clinical practice
guidelines published by the First Metatarsophalangeal Joint Disorders Panel of the American College of
Foot and Ankle Surgeons in 2003 states that interposition arthroplasty with double-stem §ilicone hinged

%\ﬁ

implants is still a useful procedure for the end-state arthrosis of hallux, and that _titaniupy'srommets are

L , : , \
recommended to minimize ectopic bone formation and protect the implant from ﬁkgg/c%acent bone. In

<,

addressing total joint systems, the guideline states that numerous implant sys?ﬁ%ms have been developed
during the years and several are still used clinically, although long-term @al usefulness has yet to be
established. Judicious use and strict criteria are recommended to avornphcatlons and problematic
revisions (Vanore, et al., 2003). &@

Outside the U.S., NICE published Interventional P? edure Guidance in 2005 based on analysis
of seven case sertes: Hanyu etal. (2001); Sharnkar, et @91); Cracchiolo et al,, (1992); Granberry etal.,
(1991); Bommireddy etal., (2003); Ibrihim et al@) ;and Malviya et al.,, (2004). The guidance also
states there is little evidence on the durabilit@% newer implants, and that complications may

necessitate removal of the joint. Thesg@qplications include persistent pain, infection, implant

loosening, implant fracture, osteol@ bone over-production, cyst formation, silastic granulomas and

C. Defenda @ppressed Adverse Data and Information from FDA /Medical Providers

transter metatarsalgia.

On 1nforrnag1c®nd belief, the Defendants had knowledge at all relevant times of the clinical
guidelines and oufsigle studies mentioned herein but have suppressed the medical data and information
and failed to@ate the label, failed to update physicians, and failed to voluntarily recall the defective
device.

A tollow up to the “Motion Study”, Baumhauer et al. (2017) (“Motion II Study”), a study funded

by Defendants, retrospectively evaluated the Motion study I (Baumhauer, et al., 2016)



tinding identical success rates between fusion surgery and the Cartiva implant. These success rates do not
exist in clinical practice. Actual patient results have reported failure rates of 64% as opposed to the 13.5%
failure rate Defendants reported to the FDA”’.

One of the conditions of approval required a PAS (post-approval study) that demonstrates no

=

greater than 13.5% complication rate and tracking the number of patients that were co@%ﬁed to
arthrodesis (a/k/a fusion) surgery. &©

On July 12, 2019 the FDA approved Defendants’ updated label base{%ggn the findings of the
Post-Approval Motion Study to include implant subsidence. However, @@ﬂamts incorrectly claimed a
majority (76%; 13/17) of the Cartiva serious adverse events were fo@v. Additionally, Defendants
incorrectly stated in the updated label that 9.2% of Cartiva subj@nd 12% of tusion subjects had the
implant and/or hardware removed during the course of th@%. On information and belief, the
Detendants have misrepresented the failure rates to t@A by labeling the adverse event as pain rather
than implant subsidence. @§

Prior to the implantation of Plaintiff’ rtiva implant, Defendants were aware of higher than
reported loss of toe mobility, pain and hi@@aﬂure rates of the Cartiva implant due to shrinkage

Q.

including but not limited to over 1 erse event reports filed with the FDA.
N
Cartiva did not report ﬂ@&})sas study™ to the FDA or take any action to recall the Cartiva
implant despite the Rosas tindings which confirmed high failure rates due to implant shrinkage
2D
coupled with lysis and&@ erosion around the implant. Plain radiographs were assessed postoperatively
at 2, 4, 8 weeks aal tollow-up. Of 14 patients who had taken adequate postoperative plain
rad1ographs,@ nt subsidence (“shrinkage”) was observed in 9 patients (64%) at 4 weeks after surgery

and 11 patients (79%) at final tollow-up. Eight patients (57%) showed radiologic lucency around the

implant.

9 Rosas K, Hurley ET, Kennedy ]JG. Early Failures of Polyvinyl Alcohol Hydrogel Implant for the Treatment of
Hallux Rigidus. Foot & Ankle Orthopaedics. October 2020. doi:10.1177/2473011420800414

10 Id.



Six patients (40%) had erosion of the proximal phalanx of great toe. Six patients (43%) reported
no improvement following surgery at final follow up. Three patients required additional surgery, including
debridement and fixation of implant using fibrin glue for loosening. Additionally, the Rosas study found
significant radiologic subsidence with disintegration of bone around the implant, erosion %;i the proximal
phalynx countersurface as well as recorded implant wear and tear— these are signi@ harbingers for

. )
concern in the long term. S

=
To date there are at least 144 adverse event reports in the Maude dﬁ%base with the majority of

<,

NS
events attributed to implant loosening. The loosening 1s likely due to sh@age of the implant that is well

9

supported by peer-reviewed literature mentioned herein. @@
The Patient Brochure does not list loss of range of of the toe, bone lysis, shrinkage of
implant, bone erosion or the inability to walk as a known r@f the Cartiva implant. Plaintitt relied upon
the representations made to her in the Patient Br %& which formed the basis of her decision to
purchase the Cartiva implant. @67@
Device migration was underreported @s)a risk that occurred in 1 out of 152 patients in a two-year
clinical study. However, upon inforrn@%\@@fnd beliet, Defendants’ label and patient brochures failed to

provide Plaintitf with information r@ng to the true failure rate due to migration and prevalence of those

tailures sufticient for her to m@ informed decision prior to her surgery.

Defendants’ lab%e@%cts a Cartiva implant failure of 13.5%. However, in view of continual and
ongoing reports ar%g ’\Oies, the actual rate of failure of the defective Cartiva device s likely 6-7 times
higher than Deﬂ@nts’ reported failure rate.

Unfoﬁmtely, tor patients with Cartiva implant failure, many in the medical community believe

that loss of toe range of motion is a symptom of shrinkage (aka implant subsidence), which 1s a precursor

to failure. By any account, the number of Cartiva implant failures 1s



not only exponentially greater than Defendants will admit but the failure rate 1s reaching alarming
proportions.

However, during the time Defendants have marketed, labeled and sold its Cartiva implant to
Plaintift, they knew or should have known that the likelthood of patients experiencing implant shrinkage
was significantly higher than they reported, and in fact 1s higher than any comparal@&product on the
rnarketandthatpanland(hsconnﬁntxvoukibe:1hkehrconsequencecﬁ&nqﬂants@ég%%gezuminngxanon

The Cartiva implant was considered to be a revolution in great toe @%ﬁs therapy. It came out
with a splash and the original studies to get the implant through FDA ap showed striking results. Bob
Baravaritan, DPM, FACFAS, was involved in helping launch Cartiva@@% educating other surgeons on the
proper use of the Cartiva SCI. Dr. Baravarian’s clinic, Univers@)ot and Ankle Institute, began to see
tailures due to the implant slipping into the bone, a proces@erred to as subsidence. Dr. Baravarian and
hs(jﬁncvdﬂnolongeruyzCaﬁﬁqtmcmmetheﬂhhmé%é%&kmﬁvaﬁnphnminchnmalpmmﬁceoccurnuxe
&mwmwmmﬂwmwhnm@ﬁﬂhﬁw@%§§§%m®7

Dr. Baravarian is not alone in his ﬁnd@, a retrospective review of 64 Cartiva SCI procedures by
Cedars Sinai Medical Center showed a <h level of patient dissatistaction with implant outcomes than
was seen in Cartiva’s Motion Study@ucal trial. In the Cedars Sinai trial 37.5% of the patient underwent
revision surgery at average 20.@1&15 of follow-up. More importantly, the radiographic loss of M'TP
(great toe) joint space and @gession of arthritis were present for all cases studied. MRI revealed bony
channelvndanngand<$> aHernnpbntevmbnceofsubmdence(a/k/ashnnkagé)vnﬂlpenlnqﬂantﬂumi
suggesting 1nstab§ t the implant-bone interface. Persistent edema was observed in soft tissues and

bone.



D. Defendants Failed To Issue Voluntary Recall

Detendants had the availability of a voluntary recall at their disposal to protect the public from
the known shrinkage, migration and bone loss issues associated with Cartiva implants. Instead,

Detendants suppressed Cartiva implant failure information by taking over the sale of thedefective device
{
N

A Recall 1s a voluntary action that takes place because manufacturers a% tributors carry out

when distributors and physicians decreased the sale and use of the Cartiva implant.

their responsibility to protect the public health and well-being from product%@%t present a risk of injury
or gross deception or are otherwise defective. These sections also recog@xthat recall 1s an alternative to
a Food and Drug Administration-initiated court action for removin@ correcting violative, distributed
products by setting forth specific recall procedures for the Fo@)d Drug Administration to monitor
recalls and assess the adequacy of a firm's efforts in rec@ 21 CFR §7.40(a).

The Detendants continued to market and sell@\\ ective device that they knew should have been
voluntarily recalled, in violation of federal r@ns including making an adulterated device that

proximately and directly caused Plantiff’s in; and damages.

)
E. Degradation Of Cartiva A Gel Implant)
N

The Cartiva implant is a I@vinyl membrane (PVA) gel implant. Cartiva implants have had
degradation of the PVA rnern noted in the Rosas study with findings of loosening, marring and
deformity of implant. W

Upon inform 0 and belief, Plaintiff’s Cartiva implant had loosening of the implant due to

N
shrinkage, marrin detormity of the implant caused by PVA degradation which directly and proximately
N

caused implé@aﬂure, subsequent multiple surgeries, pain, loss of mobility and bone.

The PV A degradation 1s not an anticipated or intended outcome of the manufacture of the Cartiva
implant.

The PVA degradation is a mechanical defect that rendered the Cartiva implant inserted in the

Plaintift unreasonably dangerous.

10



The importance of sweliing behavior 1s connected to the mechanical and tribological properties of

the Cartiva SCI hydrogel, as well as how swelling behavior impacts the risk of implant

failure.

11



In 2007, PVA hydrogels were used for treatment of knee cartilage defects in adult rabbits. Results
revealed growth over the implant and implant shrinkage." Gels can react to osmotic gradients and swell and
de-swel accordingly, even in hydrated conditions. This volume change may induce detachment from the
tissue or implant and interfacial debonding.™

§\%

Since Cartiva implants are composed of PVA which 1s soluble in water, cros ing 1s a cructal
step for PVA gel formation. Withouta stable structure, the gel is notable to Withst%gﬁze swelling pressure
upon fluid intake and may dissolve. Ky&

-9

Cartiva 1s a proprietary PV A-based hydrogel, and its producﬁ@nsists of successive freeze-

thawing cycles. @@

The Cartiva implant is a PV A based hydrogel. PVA hydr@ are problematic because the method

of manufacturing may result in 1) air bubbles, 2) PVA c@ping, 3) tragility of the PVA hydrogel, 4)
improper binding of crystallites, 5) disintegration an@tﬁaﬁon.

Manufacturing methods are more proble@@for thicker gels like the Cartiva implant.

Thicker gels are prone to a lot more variation,é.% small tweaks in temperature and aeration can contribute

to these variations. Consistent temperagu\@@nd aerations are much harder to produce on a larger scale in

a manufacturing environment. @
N

The violations of federal regulations, including but not limited to making an adulterated

device because the manufacture of the defective device failed to meet established performance
standards, or if the g ds, facilities or controls used for its manufacture, packing, storage or installation

are not in conf&@ty with federal requirements proximately and directly caused Plaintiff’s injuries and

damages. SGQ U.S.C. §351.

" Maher SA, Doty SB, Torzilli PA, et al. Nondegradable hydrogels for the treatment of focal cartilage
defects. | Biomed Mater Res - Part A. 2007:83(1):145-155. do1:10.1002/jbm.a.31255

" Carolina Borges, Rogério Colaco & Ana Paula Serro (2019) Poly(vinyl alcohol)-based hydrogels
for joint prosthesis,Annals of Medicine, 51:sup1, 105, DOT: 10.1080/07853890.2018.156271

13 Peppas NA. Hydrogels in Medicine and Pharmacy. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 1989

12



F. Product Representations
Detendants’ label and patient brochure failed to provide accurate substantive or quantitative
prevalence rates of failure or other adverse effects to Plaintiff prior to her surgery.

Detendants have represented in patient marketing literature that Cartiva 1s a quick 35- minute
(-
procedure where your physician replaces the damaged cartilage in your big toe @ new synthetic

cartilage that behaves like the natural cartilage of your big toe joint. @

Detendants additionally tell patients, including Plaintitf that “mover@ matters” further stating

in marketing materials - “Your big toe joint 1s uniquely designed for rnnt and provides most of the
force needed for walking and running. Unlike fusion surgery, whic@cks the joint in place, CARTIVA
Synthetic Cartilage Implant (SCI) reduces pain while also allov\@our joint to move how 1t’s supposed

to.” @

In addition to promises about the increase(i@ mobility and function, Defendants allege in

marketing that the Cartiva implant is prove@y provide long-term pain reduction and increased

foot mobility, with 97% reduction in paiéémonstrated at almost six years post-procedure.

Q\Q
These statements exceed the scope & FDA approved label.
N

Plaintift was induced to purcha%(lartiva implant based on the Defendants representations about the
safety and efficacy of the @@Qt Furthermore, Plaintitt has endured medical expenses, loss of income,
pain and suffering, and @airment based upon his reliance of Defendants’ product representations and
will continue to ha@mre expenses to repair the bodily harm caused by the defective Cartiva implant.
Defe@g labeling was false and/or misleading. Defendants violated the federal regulations in

the labeling of Plaintiff’s Cartiva implant thereby causing a misbranded medical device to be ultimately

implanted into Plaintiff’s body.

13



The conditional approval letter relating to the Cartiva implant stated: “CDRH does not evaluate
information related to contract liability warranties, however you should be aware that any such warranty
statements must be truthful, accurate, and not misleading, and must be consistent with applicable Federal
and State laws”.

Failure to comply with the conditions of approval invalidates this approval ord\@

Commercial distribution of a device that 1s not in compliance with thesei(;\%@tions 1s a violation
of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. 21 U.S.C. {§ 301 et seq. g%\@j

Detendants violated the conditional approval requirements@fjt%%) consequently the federal
regulations in, among other things, making untrue, inaccurate and@?% misleading statements regarding
Plaintiff’s Cartiva implant. If Defendants had not made these @ﬂents and violated the requirements
and regulations, Plantift would have chosen an altemati@featment option or a different device for
implantation into his body. §

G. Defendants Failed to Comply with P@ost-Approval Surveillance Study

The PMA approval order of the Cartiva imp@%required Detendants’ collect data to assess the following
primary and secondary study endpoints: @
a. Primary Study Endpoints- rimary endpoint will evaluate the long-term satety of the Cartiva

implant by demonstratm&@ge tollowing;:

O
1. Durabili%(@% implant over the longer term.
)

2. Asses&%nt of no unanticipated safety concerns that arise after Month 24 up to 5 years.

N
Addressed @@%@

.@etermining the incidence of serious device-related adverse events per year and overall
from Month 24 to Year 5; and
2. Summarizing device-related radiographic major complications over time from Month 24
to Year 5

3. Provide the following secondary endpoints:

14



Evaluation of maintenance of range of motion;

4. Wear characteristics or device degradation for any Cartiva implant removed;

5. Pain and function over time (Visual Analog Scale [VAS] pain scores, Foot and Ankle
Ability Measure [FAAM] Activities of Daily Living [ADL] function scores and
FAAMSports function scores); and @@&\Cé

6. Evaluation of radiographic findings (radiolucency, bony reac@, and heterotopic
osstfication) looking at presence or progression from 24 m{@@ to 5+ years as well as
correlation with the 5+ years clinical outcomes (effecti@@s and safety).

In addition to not following the PMA post-approval orders, @dants have largely ignored these
endpoints the FDA placed in the PMA to protect the public sa&@The safety data the FDA established
did not narrow the Defendants’ focus to the Motion stu@@articipants. Yet, Defendants have violated
the FDA’s PMA order by not assessing the safety of g@dpoint tor each device with reported adverse

Q)
events, including the Plaintiff’s defective device. @
The lack of saftety surveillance served to sup&s information from the FDA in violation of the PMA
order and the lack of safety surveillanc@e @GS the product unreasonably dangerous to end consumers,
N &
including Plaintiff. ©

Detendants failed to d(—:@%g practices and procedures to assure compliance with 21 C.F.R. {814
concerning device modiﬁ@ns, instructions for use, pre-market approval conditions; and to comply with
21 C.F.R. §§803, 80%@ 820, concerning maintaining MDRs, implementing device Removals and
Corrections and ishing Quality Systems.

Defe@?s tailed to develop practices and procedures to assure compliance with the tederal

requirements for reporting adverse events, or MDRs, in accordance with 21 U.S.C. §360.

15



Despite the obligations described above, and the obligations of every medical device manufacturer
to comply with federal law, Detendants failed to meet numerous federal requirements in their manufacture
and sale of the Cartiva implant prior to Plaintiff’s surgery and implantation of her Cartiva device which
caused him to have implanted a defective and adulterated device causing her injuries and daﬂmages

Detendants’ failure to meet the specitic federal requirements outlined above w@; applicable to

Plantiff’s Cartiva implant, directly and proximately caused Plaintiff’s Cartiva img&@o be defective, and
proximately caused harm and injury to Plaintift. %\@9
The causes of action set forth in this complaint are not preempte@% 360k, because the violations
alleged are all based on an exclusively federal statutory and regulato@andard of care which includes no
“requirement, which 1s different from, or in addition to, any @rement applicable under” the Food,
Drug and Cosmetic Act and regulations promulgated the<7 hder. As such, the claims set forth in this

<&

cause of action contain requirements that are p to the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and

S

regulations promulgated thereunder. §@
H. Defendants’ Corporate Facts@©
S
Prior to obtaining FDA ap@, Cartiva Inc, raised revenue on July 24, 2013 with an equity
N
tunding by offering a round of &?ulation D security offerings totaling Four Million Three Hundred
Q)

Twelve Thousand and Sev@@ndfed Twelve Dollars ($4,312,712.00).

2D
Three years lat@@ July 1, 2016 Cartiva, Inc. obtained premarket approval of the Cartiva SCI.*
On or abo@ctober 10, 2018, Wright Medical Group purchased Cartiva, Inc. tor Four Hundred

Thirty-Five Million Dollars ($435,000,000)." Stock analysts considered it a hefty price ta:
ty y typ g

“PMA # P150017

" https:/ /www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2018/10/10/1619047/0/en/Wright-Medical-
Group-N-V- Completes- Acquisition-of-Cartiva-Inc.html

16



but also were impressed with strong early adoption of Cartiva SCI, which offers an alternative to fusion
surgery which is the gold standard for treating severe arthritis in the big toe."

Despite the initial excitement at product launch, stock analysts quickly caught wind of the reports
of Cartiva implant failure. By July 2019, RBC stock analysts found some surgeons were irﬂnplanting tewer
of the devices or they had even stopped oftering the treatment altogether. Problems \@?ost—opemtive
pain, degree of motion, or the device slipping into the bone in a process known as @i: idence (“shrinkage”)
were reported.”” Doctors have been unable to replicate the positive results of t@mpamy’s Motion clinical
trial in the broader patient population and have stopped implanting thee or are more cautious about
using it. Despite analyst concerns that physictans were dropping off@g Cartiva SCI to patients due to
tailed implants, Wright Medical Group CEO Bob Palmisano r@sed upbeat on prospects for Cartiva.

On the company’s earnings call in May 2019, Palmisano @ sales growth for the device was exceeding

expectations, and he identified the market for treatmem@pig toe arthritis as a $400 million opportunity.”

The tailure rates of Cartiva SCI were m\@@her in clinical practice than reported in the Motion

Study. Wright Medical Group CEO Bob Palthisano confirmed Cartiva sales in the second quarter second
%)

quarter of 2019 fell short of Wright! @ectations while touting Wright still maintained gross profit

margins of 79%." Palmisano furt@commented,

“The unexpected weakness 1 U.S. lower extremities business was due to a combination of factors,
including the significant re r@on in sales by the Cartiva distributors and disappointing performance n
our core foot products ven by a higher-than-normal level of sales rep turnover that occurred in a
concentrated period @e mid-quarter. To address this, we acted quickly and terminated the Cartiva

distributors, and as g>%@ﬁgust 1, the U.S. Cartiva business has been transitioned

" https:/ /\Q] medtechdive.com/news /wright-medical-shares-tumble-amid-report-of-cartiva-
slowdown/558132/

7 1d.

18 1d.

¥ https:/ /www.globenewswire.com/en/news-release/2019/08/07/1898695/33314 /en/Wright-
Medical-Group-N-V- Reports-2019-Second-Quarter-Financial-Results.ht
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to our direct U.S. lower extremities sales torce. We also adjusted the sales compensation program for
our entire U.S. lower extremities sales team and are increasing the size of the sales force and
aggressively adding experienced reps. We are confident that the actions we have taken will
improve the growth rates of Cartiva and the whole U.S. lower extremities business; however it will take
some time for the benetits of these actions to be evident in the sales results, and we believe our updated
guidance takes that timing approprately into account.”

Stryker, B.V., a wholly owned subsidiary of Stryker, purchased Wright Medical G on or about
November 11, 2020 for Four Billion Seven Hundred Million Dollars ($4,7OO,OOO,O20

The basis of the “Motion Study” that helped Cartiva gain FDA approva]ov@%remised upon a claim

that there was a less than 10% failure of the Cartiva implant group &@Would require subsequent

conversion to fusion surgery within the first two years of the implant;!

9

The Defendants alleged the Cartiva implant was deted to be statistically equivalent to

arthrodesis (fusion surgery) but with the added benefit of @r mobility and less surgical downtime.
Ox
Initial results for the Cartiva implant were enco@g, however, unbiased reviewers adopted the

NN
position that more independent, non-industry fund@seareh 1s necessary with larger cohorts to identify

implant survivalship and long-term efﬁcacy”@thing the FDA had already required the Defendants

O

to do in the PMA approval order. @

Since 2016 Defendant, Stryk/e_iﬁ\@/ a Cartiva has manufactured, introduced and/or

@
9
@)

@
% https:// investo;@r.oom /press-releases /news-details /2020 /Stryker-completes-acquisition-of-
Wright- Medical/ taspx

*! Baumhauer ]@ngh D, Glazebrook M, Blundell C, De Vries G, Le IL, Nielsen D, Pedersen ME,
Sakellariou an M, Wansbrough G, Younger AS, Dantiels T; for and on behalf of the CARTIVA
Motion Study Group. Prospective, Randomized, Multi-centered Clinical Trial Assessing Safety and
Efficacy of a Synthetic Cartilage Implant Versus First Metatarsophalangeal Arthrodesis in Advanced
Hallux Rigidus. Foot Ankle Int. 2016 May;37(5):457-69. doi: 10.1177/1071100716635560. Epub 2016 Feb
27. PMID: 26922669.

* https:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7067982/pdf/ main.pdf
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delivered the Cartiva SCl into the stream of interstate commerce in clear violation of the PMA order 1ssued
by the FDA.
Betore commercially distributing the Cartiva SCI in the United States, federal law required
Defendant, Stryker £/k/a Cartiva, Inc to submit an application for premarket approval (“PMA ) of the
device to the Secretary of Health and Human Services. On July 1, 2016, the Food and D@dm1n1straﬁon
(“FDA”) completed its review of Defendant, Cartiva, Inc.’s PMA application fo%@amva implant.
Based on the materials submitted by Defendant, Stryker £/k/a Ca§§q§9‘cbe FDA conditionally
approved the Cartiva implant for commercial distribution.” The coal approval letter from the
FDA stated that “[cJommercial distribution of a device that 1s not i@mplianee with these conditions is
a violation of the [Food, Drug and Cosmetic| act, [21 U.S.C.@ etseq.].”

I. PLAINTIFF’S CARTIVA IMPLANT @

In June 2019, Plaintitt had the first surgem@%s great toe. Dr. Scott Pattison utilized and

implanted the Detendants’ Cartiva SCI ins@é@mﬁon and implant. Specifically, the following

components of said system were utilized: &

a. Placer; . ©@
N

b. Placement Guide @
C. Introducer; @

d. Metatarsal @m Bit; and

!
e. Cartt plant.
N

%

a. PMA #MOOW
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This surgical procedure has not been eftective at alleviating pain or restoring range of motion.

As a result of the implantation of the Defective Devices, Plaintitf has suffered additional medical
expenses for removal of the implant, the implanting of an Arthrosurface implant, and thereafter another
surgery whereby bone was taken out of Plaintiff's ankle and was used to "fuse" his big toe }gnes together,
all of which was needed to correct the toe detormity and bone loss caused by the @ve Device, and

)
Ky
S
J. DELAYED DISCOVERY §

9

N
Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference all prior paragrap@ though fully set forth herein.

causing additional loss of income, and pain and suffering,.

9
Plantift pleads that the discovery rule should be applied QS-:@ oll the running of the statute of
limitations until Plaintiff knew, or through the exercise of g@able care and diligence should have
known, of facts indicating that the Plaintitf had been 1@ , the cause of the injury and the tortuous

nature of the wrongdoing that caused the injury. 0&\\%
0

Plaintiff’s discovery of Cartiva defe@@Jpremised on Defendants communications with
physicians, sales representatives and/or dis@)utots and the FDA that failures of a successful Cartiva
implant were due to surgical techniqt%%g% not the implant.

Despite diligent investigatié@by Plaintift into the cause of his injuries, including consultations
with Plaintitf’s medical prov@ the nature of Plaintiff’s injuries and damages and their relation to the
Plaintiff's Cartiva anc?> I;&%féljdants’ wrongtful conduct was delayed and could not have been discovered,
until a date within @Eplicable statute of limitations for filing each of Plaintitf’s claims.

Any applicable statutes of limitations have been tolled by the knowing and active concealment and

denial of mgal tacts known by the Defendants when they had a duty to disclose
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those facts. The Defendants’ purposeful and fraudulent acts of concealment have kept Plaintitt ignorant
of vital information essential to the pursuit of Plaintiff’s claims, without any fault or lack of diligence on
Plantiff’s part, for the purpose of obtaining delay on Plantiff’s filing of his causes of action. The
Detendants’ fraudulent concealment did result in such delay. C

Detendants are estopped from relying on the statute of limitations defense b@?@ Detendants
tailed to timely disclose, among other things, facts evidencing the defective and gJ:J&?é}sonably dangerous
nature of their Cartiva implants. &\@9
&

COUNTI @
NEGLIGENT-DESIGN, MANUFACTURE, MISBRANDED IMPROPER TRANSFER
OF 510(k)/PMA WITHOUT FDA AP VAL

Plantift repeats, reiterates and re-alleges each and every &@anon of this Complaint in each of the

toregoing paragraphs inclusive, with the same force and eff@s if more fully set forth herein.

Plantift 1s in the class of persons that Defen@ should reasonably foresee as being subject to
the harm caused by defectively designed Caﬁi@@aﬂ‘s insofar as Plaintiff was the type of person for
whom Cartiva implant was intended to be ufed.

At all times herein mentionedgIdefendants created, designed, researched, manufactured, tested,
advertised, promoted, marketed, s@ and/or distributed its Cartiva implant as hereinabove described

-

Detendants Coul@onably have foreseen that its Cartiva implants were expected to and did

that was used by the Plaintiff,
reach the usual cgn@wrs handlers, and persons coming into contact with said product without

substantial chan the condition in which they were produced, manufactured, sold, distributed and

marketed b@fendants.
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The Cartiva implant inserted into Plaintiff on June 2019, was a class III device while the

instruments used to insert Cartiva implants are all Class IT devices designed and/or manufactured by

Detendants and placed into the interstate stream of commerce.

Act and regulations promulgated to it.

Defendants marketed, distributed and/or permitted use of its Cartiva implants in violation of the
(
&
@

It was the duty of Defendants to comply with the Act, and the regulations Eé: ulgated pursuant to

it, yet, notwithstanding this duty, Defendants violated the Act in one or ma@ the following ways:

.

Failed to accurately establish the in vivo life expectancy of the Ca@CI in violation of 21 C.F.R.

820.30(f); @5@

@

Failed to accurately validate the anticipated wear of t@arﬁva SCI prior to its release into

commercial distribution, in violation of 21 C.F. RQ@O&O(g)and the PMA approval order for

Cartiva; \%
Failed to establish and maintain appropr@@ablhty assurance testing to validate the Cartiva SCI
design both before and after its entry fnfo the marketplace, in violation of 21 C.F.R. 820.30(g) and
@

the PMA approval order for C ;
Failed to conduct adequa@io—compatibﬂity studies to determine the Cartiva SCI’s latent
propensity to loosen, m@ into bone and failure to integrate into the joint space as required by the
PMA approval or\@)r Cartiva;

S \OO
Failed to 1deg1\ e component discrepancy, in violation of 21 C.F.R. 820.80(c);
Failed to re the component discrepancy or deftect during their Final Acceptance Activities,
in vi@on of 21 C.F.R. 820.80(d) and as required by the PMA approval for Cartiva;

Failed to establish and maintain procedures for implementing corrective and preventative action

in response to, inter alia, complaints regarding the Cartiva SCI, returned Cartiva
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SCI, and other quality problems associated with the Cartiva SCI, 1n violation of 21 C.F.R. 820.100 and the

PMA approval order for Cartiva;

m.

O.

Failed to appropriately respond to adverse incident reports that strongly indicated the Cartiva
implant was Malfunctioning [as defined in 21 C.F.R. 803.3], or otherwise not reﬂsponding to its
Design Objection Intent, in violation of 21 C.F.R. 820.198 and the PMA appro@?ir tor Cartiva;
Failed to conduct complete device investigations on returned Cartiva im’&lg\ s and components,
in violation of 21 C.F.R. §20.198 and the PMA approval order for C@é%; and/or

Failed to comply with the FDA policies and procedures to transf@nership of the 510(k) and/or
PMA. Without proper transter of ownership pursuant to Fl@g@requirements it is not certain the
Cartiva device with current Defendants are within the P@issued for Cartiva, Inc. which means

preemption is a non-issue for an unregulated manu%urer.

The Cartiva implant and accompanying in@;nts has been owned by three corporations:

S

Cartiva, Inc. (2015-2017), Wright Medical Grm@ 8-2020) and Stryker (2020- present), yet the 510(k)

for instruments and the Cartiva implant is@l listed with the FDA as Cartiva, Inc. with no PMA

Supplement approving new manufactgites with ownership changes which implies the FDA has not

reviewed or approved ownership @e 510(k) transfer.

@Q@% K. FDA TIMELINE:

Date FDA Action Approval Number
2D
7/1/16 P@éﬁ Approval P150017
N
8/25/16 Q S001

7 IPMA Supplement- Change vendor of foil lidstock used to

N

seal primary packaging ot Cartiva SCI device

9/29/16 5002

PMA Supplement-Approval of protocol for ODE lead

PMA Post Approval Study

11/1/16 S003

PMA Supplement- Approval of 8- and 20-unit shipping

configurations for smaller orders
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1/6/17 , , S004
PMA Supplement- Change is supplier of a component used
in manufacture of Cartiva SCI
. . S005
p//1T PMA Supplement/Label Change- Modifications to
Surgical implantation Technique Guide f
. . N 006 >
/977 PMA Supplement- Expansion of Manufacturing facility ¥ \@@
@)
. . 9180170
1/29/18 Cartiva Instruments Reclassified as Class 11 device Ky& @
8/28/18 < 18007
/28/ PMA Supplement-Approval of manufacturing sit@r
instruments to Arcamed LLC @)@
Date FDA Action @Q@ Approval Number
S
7/2/18 , , S008
12/ PMA Supplement- Approval of an alte@te raw material
provider K @
7/2/18 PMA  Supplement- Add @nal clean room for S009
manufacture of Cartiva &
O y 10
7/11/19 PMA Supplement- Ap@%x?al of addition of 6 mm and 12 S0
mm sizes of Cart%%%%l to the previously approved
8 mm and 10 device.
12/1 i S011
7/12/19 PMA Sup@\éﬂt/ Label change based on findings of PAS
©
I o 12
P/22/19 P v(@Supplenrlent—Approval to add clarifying statementso
©g%\garding need for irrigation during drilling within)
§ [nstructions for Use and the Surgical Implantation
Technique for Cartiva
2/9/20 S013

PMA Supplement- add manufacturing site at Sterts

Synergy Health in Saxonburg, PA
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11/26/19 o , o S014
PMA Supplement-Expanded release criteria of tinal finished

device to accept those that have a homogenously opaqug

appearance

The FDA does permit 510(k) transters with the caveat that two companies mz%@%\cﬁ manufacture
the same device under a single 510(k) clearance. Theretore, if a 510(k) holder WiShG@CGHSG the right to
manufacture a device but also wishes to continue its own manufacturing act@ the FDAs policy 1s to
require the licensee to obtain a new 510(k) clearance. @Q@

When the holder of an approved PMA enters into an agréepnent to permit another firm to
manufacture and distribute a device under the licensee’s private& , FDA approval may be obtained by
etther of two procedures: (i) the PMA holder may submit @lement to the approved PMA; or (1) the
licensee may submit an original PMA that includes,y@udes by authorized reference to the holder’s
approved PMA, all appropriate information re u@ﬁ by 21 C.F.R. § 814.20 (required information for
PMA applications). There 1s no evidence OHQ§DA medical device database that the Cartiva implant
used in Plaintiff was manufactured or matkéted with FDA approval for the new owners of Cartiva.

As adirect and proximate re/gf%f Detendants violations of one or more of these federal statutory
and regulatory standards of carqu&;eéartim implant was used on the Plaintitf and failed and such failure
directly caused and/or c@@ut@d to the severe and permanent injuries sustained and endured by
Plaintiff, as defined in, @.F.R. 803.3. As adirect result, Plaintiff endured pain and suftering, including,
but not limited t&%&%carﬁng and distigurement, and has required additional and debilitating surgeries
and has inc@@s@gniﬁcant medical expenses in the pastand will incur additional medical expenses in the

tuture; physical pain and sutfering and impairment, all past and future; mental anguish and emotional

distress, both past and future, including, but not limited to, annoyance and aggravation.
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This cause of action 1s based entirely on the contention that Defendants violated federal satety
statutes and regulations. Plaintitf did not bring the underlying action as an implied statutory cause of
action, but rather he 1s pursuing parallel state common law claims based upon Defendants’ violations of
the applicable federal regulations.

%

Under Texas law, Defendants’ violations of the atorementioned federal statu\@&and regulations

establish a prima facie case of negligence. &©

Thus, under Texas common law, a money damages remedy exists ﬁ@olaﬁon of the Act and

regulations promulgated thereunder which results in an unreasonabl@%gerous product proximately
causing injuries, and there s no need for the Texas Legislature tc(c% in order to create such a remedy.

The Act contains an express preemption provision, 21 U®§360(k), which in relevant part states:

“no state or political subdivision of a state may establish@ontinue in effect with respect to a device
intended for human use any requirement —(1) which@i@f@fent trom, or in addition to, any requirement
applicable under this Act [21 USCS §§301, et @&) the device, and (2) which relates to the safety or
effectiveness of the device or to any other m: included in a requirement applicable to the device under
this Act [21 USCS §§301, et seq.].” Thge of action set forth in this Claim for Relief 1s not preempted
by 21 US.C. @

N
The cause of action se@h in this Claim for Relief 1s not preempted by 21 U.S.C.

@)

§306(k) because the violatic@alleged are all based on an exclusively federal statutory and regulatory set of
requirements which iro@ge no “requirement, which s different from, or in addition to, any requirement
applicable under”, Act and regulations promulgated thereunder. As such, the claims set forth herein

contain requiretnents that are parallel to the Act and regulations promulgated thereunder and not

preempted.”

24 1n Riegel, the Court noted that § 360k “does not prevent a State from providing a damages remedy for
claims premised on a violation of FDA regulations; the state duties in such a case ‘parallel,’ rather than add

to federal requirements.” 552
U.S. at 330 (2008).
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As a direct and proximate result of Defendants actions, Plaintift prays for judgment against

Defendants in an amount in excess of Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00).

Detendants created, designed, researched, manufactured, tested, advertised, promoted, marketed,

sold and distributed a defective product which created an unreasonable risk to the health of consumers
=
and to Plamntift, in particular, and Defendants are therefore liable for the injuries sustau@sby the Plaintift.

5
COUNTIL @
MISBRANDED AND ADULTERATED DEVI%

Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and re-alleges each and every allegation ofhis Complaint in each of the

toregoing paragraphs inclusive, with the same force and etfectas if mo%%i; ly set forth herein.

Plamtitt has endured painful surgeries scarnng and ncg@i?magc caused by the defective
Cartiva implants. The original Cartiva implant was a Class @@wrc and all instruments used to insert
the Cartiva implant are Class I devices designed and /ori@w tactured by Detendants and placed into
the interstate stream of commerce.

§@

Plaintitt has endured painful surgefies% ng and nerve damage caused by the defective Cartiva

implants. The original Cartiva implant wa@@ass 1H device and all instruments used to insert the Cartiva

Q.

implant are Class 1I devices desigledg@/ or manutactured by Defendants and placed mnto the interstate

O

stream of commerce. %
Defendants markete @1 tributed and/or permitted use of its Cartiva implant and insertion
)
instrments i vie D]""IOE}%‘E}!E Act and regulations promulgated to it.
<
N

Ttwas the ddtrot Defendants to comply with the Act, and the regulations promulgated pursuant to

it, yet, notwit }@unﬂg this duty, Defendants violated the Act in one or more of the following ways:

N
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a. Faided to submit a PMA supplement to warn of risk of implant shrinkage, migration and bone loss

tor review and approval as required by the FIDA. 21 C.F.R. §814.39 and PMA approval order for

~
of
OfF

("\

Cartiva. Despite Defendants’ knowledge of higher failure rates than previously reported to the

FDA, Detendants chose to do nothing. It is the Defendants, not the FD A who had a duty to report

—

i
3]
]

Y
the failure rates and manutacturing problems to the FDA. The burden for get@xmrg whether a

N

supplement is required is primarily on the PMA holder, changes for whic h&y\ plicant shall submit

a PMA supplement include, but are not limited to, the tollowing type @hunﬁes if they affect the

safety or effectiveness of the devic @
1. New indications for use of the device. @
2. Labeling changes.

3. 'The use of a different facility or estab @ﬁ to manufacture, process, or package the
device

4. Changes 1o sterilization procec@

5. Changes in packaging. @

@

6. Changes in the perfogpanice or design specifications, circuits, components, ingredients,

Uv

principle of opera @ or physical layout of the device.

b. Defendants sold, distcd and permitted use of its devices in violation of the regulations
prescribed undcr& 2.5.C. §3601(e) and 21 U.S.C. § 352(q) which required design validation and
o \OO
mar*uffictuﬂg}@ ntrols to assure the Defendants would not produce a medical device with
impurﬁﬁeg@ inconsistencies. Detendants also had a duty to provide a label that was truthtul about
the ﬁ@assocmted with the Cartiva implant and Defendants have failed to do so;
c. Failed to restrict the use of the Cartiva implant and instruments in violation of 21

U.S.C. §352(r) and the PMA approval order for Cartiva. The Cartiva PMA approval order provided the

o

device 18 further restrcted under section 515(d)(1)(B) (11) of the act insofar as the Jabeling must

/



specify the specific training or experience practitioners need in order to use the device. In direct violation
of the PMA order, Defendants’ Direction For Use merely states ““The Cartiva SCI device should only be
used by experienced surgeons who have undergone training in the use of this device”. There 1s no limitation
on the physictan experience-specialty type, years of experience nor do the instructions provide any detatls
L
about the type of training required. The PMA approval order further states the H)»& &\getetmme\” that
these restrictions on sale and distribution are necessary to provide reasonable assg:;ig@e of the satety and
effectiveness of the device. Your device 1s therefore a restricted device sb%@%o the requirements in
sections 502(q) and {r) of the act, in addition to the many other E@ requirements governing the
manufacture, distribution, and marketing of devices. As mentioned G@@ﬁ Defendants had a duty to print
ort the label and marketing of the Cartiva tmplant all ¢ &@ warnings, precautions, side etfects,
tstnictions tor use and contraindications and has taled f@fc any warnings beyond the genecalizations
&
provided i the Jabel; and 0\%

d. Failed to comply with the requirements o J.5.C.§ 3601 which provides a device manufacturer

>

shall report to the FDA when ﬁlémuﬁcmmr recetves or otherwise becomes aware of
information that reasonably Sl}s that one of its marketed devices may have caused or

contributed to a death of serious injury, o

=

has malfunctioned and that such device or
a similar device mvkd@ By the manufacturer would be likely to cause or contribute to a

death or serious 1@;2}[ it the malfunction were to recur. As mentioned herein, Defendants

(
-

have kDO‘NEEd,O?’ at failure rates are higher than reported to the FDA, yet Detendants have taken
QO
\

protect the public, including Plaintitt from harm caused by the defective Cartiva

no action

implﬁ@ﬁd

e. Defendants have failed to comply with 21 U.S.C.§ 3601 which required Detendants to submut a

4
surveillance plan for its device once commercial distribution began to detect adverse health events

to the public. Instead, Defendants have relied solely on the Moton Study to continue with

commercial distribution ignoring the adverse event reports and other studies correlating findings
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1

the failure rate 1s 6-7 times higher than reported by Defendants.

As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of one or more of these federal
statutory and regulatory standards of care, Plaintift had a Cartiva implanted using Cartiva instruments
and 1t faied, and such tallure directly caused and/or contributed to the severe and permanent injuries

(-
sustained and endured by Plantift as defined in 21 C.FR. 803.3. As a direct result,@ intitt endured
suftering, including, but not himited to, recurrent dislocations and sqblumt&@@h swelling, toe

enlargement, and has required additional and debilitating surgeries and has %@f“ed significant medical

expenses in the past and will incur additional medical expenses in the t'

and 1mpairment, all past and future; mental anguish and Vmon(,@%distress, both past and future,

§b

This cause of action s based entirely on the CC)‘WC@ that Defendants violated tederal satety

including, but not limited to, annoyance and aggravation.

5

~
£
i

Biare]

statutes and regulations. Plaintffs do not bring km@f]vmo action as an tmplied statutory cause o
: 1 . . 111 1 5 g t
action, but rather they are pursuing parallel s mt@ non law claims based upon Defendants’ violations

of the applicable tederal regulations.

@ .

Under Texas' Product Liability Qg Be efendants’ violations of the aforementioned federal statutes
N

and regulations establish a prima @ case of products hability that can be asserted in Texas detective
design, defective manufacturin@%d tailure-to- warn. Ssp Partners v. Gladstrong Investments, 169 S.W.3d 27,
39 (Tex. 2005). ©©

Thus, under Ti@@?common law, 2 money damages remedy exists for violation of the Act and
regulations pro ted thereunder which results in an unreasonably dangerous product proximately
causing 1n]m® and there 1s no need for the Texas Legislature to act in order to create such a remedy.
ca

§360(k), which in relevant part

The Act contamns an express preemption provision, 21 U.S.C.
P vy N P PN [ E D ~E - - [ -~ y " P 5 . -
states: “no state or political subdivision of a state may establish or continue in effect with respect to a

device intended for human use any requirement (1) which is different from, or in
4 \ . s

=

addition to, any requirement applicable under this Act [21 USCS ¢

30

§301, et seq.] to the device, and
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(2) which relates to the safety or etfectiveness of the device or to any other matter included in a

requirement applicable to the device under this Act [21 USCS §§301, et seq.].”
L. The cause of action set forth in this Claim tor Relief 1s not preempted by 21 U.S.C.
§306(k) because the violations alleged are all based on an exclusively federal statutory %&reg}ulamt’y
- Lo o « : s - ,
set of requirements which include no “requirement, which is difterent from, orgn addition to, any
- )
requirement applicable under” the Act and regulations promulgated thereund'\eé}?ee; Bausch v. Stryker,
630 F.3d 546, 556 (7th Cir. 2010) (claims for negligence and strict products B@ity relating to a Class 111
medical device were not expressly preempted by ftederal law to the@xt;m they were based on the
defendants’ violations of tederal law). As such, the claims set forﬂ@%%m contain requirermnents that are
parallel to the Act and regulations promulgated thereunder. @
As a direct and proximate result of Defendants@forementioned actions, Plaintitt, prays for
NN
judement against Defendants in an amount in cxccs%éggcvemyﬁive Thousand Dollars (§75,000.00).
0
COUNT II

STATE LAW AND COMMON LA LAIMS OF PRODUCT LIABILITY AND
NEGLIGENCE FOR CI@ IT DEVICES/CLASS III DEVICES

Plaintift repeats, reiterates andﬁ@%eges each and every allegation of this Complaint in each of the
@)
toregoing paragraphs inclusive, w@e same force and effect as if more fully set forth herein.
Q)
The Cartiva impla@corresponding Cartiva instruments used on Plaintiff, were designed,
)

manufactured and distﬁ%ﬁed by Detendants and placed into the stream of interstate commerce by
AN

Defendants. Said £émiponents were defective in design and/or manufacture. Said defects existed when

the compon t the hands of Defendants making the components unreasonably dangerous beyond

the contemplation of the ordinary user.
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Detendants turther breached applicable implied and express warranties, including warranties of
merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. Further, Detendants failed to provide appropriate
warnings regarding the potential dangers associated with the use of said components, including warnings

=
regarding the risk of migration of Cartiva implant and shrinkage of the Cartiva @l, such as was

experienced by Plaintift. &©
As a direct and proximate result of the design and/or manufacturing%ﬁsects, tailure to warn and
breach of express and implied warranties related to Defendants’ C implant and corresponding
instruments designed, manufactured, distributed, sold and/or place@@%% the stream of commerce by the
Detendants, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent injuries, Q@ding, but not limited to, scarring and
distigurement, pain and sutfering and impairment, and has r@ed additional and debilitating surgeries and
has incurred significant medical expenses in the pa@x}%@ﬁ will incur additional medical expenses in the
tuture; physical pain and suffering and impair@,} all past and future; mental anguish and emotional
distress, both past and future, including, b@t limited to, annoyance and aggravation; and has been
damaged in an amount in excess of SQyFive Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00).
As a direct and proximate re@ of the willful, wanton, intentional acts, reckless and/or the willful,
wanton, intentional acts, recklé@%nd/ or the willtul, wanton, intentional and reckless failures to act by

Detendants Plaintiftts(s) s@red the aforesaid damages and, as such, Plaintitf(s)s demand that punitive

R
damages be awarded &st Detendants.

(S
QO COUNT IV
REACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

Plantift repeats, reiterates and re-alleges each and every allegation of this Complaint in each of the
toregoing paragraphs inclusive, with the same force and eftect as if more fully set forth herein.

Detendants knew that Cartiva implant had problems, including but not limited to
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shrinkage and migration out of joint space into the bone. Defendants advertised Cartiva implants as a
non-invasive procedure, designed to reduce and quickly restore toe mobility with a simple procedure.
None of Defendants’ advertising, marketing, or informational materials to the Plantiff, mentioned that
Cartiva had the ability to cause a condition that results in a permanent distigurement to the body that can

(
o
only be resolved through invasive surgeries resulting in the gpposite effect ot the device’@rtised purpose.

Plantift relied on the skill and judgment of the Defendants that the dev@s adequately tested

Xe

and rendered safe to use for its intended purpose. Kg&

9

<
Plantift became interested in and underwent the Cartiva i@t procedure based on the

9

Detendants’ representation about the procedure. &)

@

Because of the innate defective nature of the Carﬁx@@nplamg Plaintiff and the individuals
performing the Cartiva implant procedure on Plaintitt, theSdgh the use of reasonable care could not have
discovered the defective nature of the Cartiva devicei@gs percetved dangers.

As the direct and proximate result of Def&\m’ conduct, Plaintiff sustained serious injuries that
were directly caused by the defective, unsafe& unreasonably dangerous Cartiva implant that could not
safely be used for the purpose for whicbs marketed, advertised, promoted and intended.

As the direct and proximate @%of Detendants’ wrongtul conduct, Plaintitt sutfered and continue
to suffer economic losses, en&@al distress, permanent disfigurement, physical pain, mental anguish,

diminished enjoyment of @and tuture medical expenses.

S COUNTYV
ACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY

Plainti f@peats, reiterates and re-alleges each and every allegation of this Complaint in each of the

toregoing paragraphs inclusive, with the same force and effect as it more fully set forth herein.
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At all times herein mentioned, Defendants manufactured, compounded, portrayed, distributed,
recommended, merchandized, advertised, promoted and sold its Cartiva implant and instruments.
At the time Defendants marketed, sold, and distributed its Cartiva implant and instruments to be
(-
used on Plaintiff, Defendants knew of the use for which its Cartiva devices was inte@ and impliedly
. O
warranted the product to be of merchantable quality and sate and fit for such usg.

Detendants impliedly represented and warranted to the users of its @va devices and/or their

<,

&)

physicians, and/or healthcare providers, and/or the FDA that its C a devices were safe and of

@

merchantable quality and fit for the ordinary purpose for which said@gj@oducts were to be used.

That said representations and warranties aforementione&@:e talse, misleading, and inaccurate in
that its Cartiva devices were unsate, unreasonably dangerousyimproper, not of merchantable quality, and
defective. 0\%

N

Plaintiff and/or members of the medical c@@@niw and/or healthcare professionals did rely on said
implied warranties of merchantability and ﬁ@ tor a particular use and purpose.

Plaintiff and/or her physicians ap healthcare professionals reasonably relied upon the skill and
judgment of Defendants as to wh@r its Cartiva devices were of merchantable quality and safe and fit
tor it intended use. @

O
Defendants’ Cartiv@evices were injected into the stream of commerce by Defendants in a
(O
defective, unsafe, an@@@erendy dangerous condition and the products and materials were expected to
S
and did reach us&xandlem, and persons coming nto contact with said products without substantial

change in t@ndi‘don in which they were sold.

Detendants herein breached the aforesaid implied warranties, as its Cartiva devices
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were neither merchantable nor fit for their intended purposes and uses.
By reason of the foregoing Plantitt has experienced and continues to experience, sertous and
dangerous side effects including but not limited to, mobility problems and disability, as well as other severe

and personal injuries which are permanent and lasting in nature, physical pain and mental anguish,
=
including diminished enjoyment of life, as well as the need for lifelong medical tre@nt, monitoring

O
and/or medications. =
/ N

As a result of the foregoing acts and omissions Plaintiff requires and/or will@ire more health care and

services and did incur medical, health, incidental and related expenses.@tiff 1s informed and believes

and further alleges that Plaintiff will in the future be required to obtain@g%wr medical and/or hospital care,

@
S
o
COUNT VI 9
FAILURE TO WARN N

attention, and services.

Plantift repeats, reiterates and re-alleges eac@é&g\qd every allegation of this Complaint in each of the
toregoing paragraphs inclusive, with the same &§nd effect as if more fully set forth herein.

Detendants are, and at all times @moned in this Complaint was, engaged in the business of
designing, manufacturing, assemb%r%égiﬁ}ld selling a medical device product known as Cartiva devices
with the purpose of gaining proﬁés;fr/om the distribution thereof.

Detendants directlrough its agents, apparent agents, servants, or employees designed,
manufactured, tested,Q r&%k\;ted, and commercially distributed the Cartiva SCI system that was used on
Plaintiff. g%\@}

Defe @@ knew that its Cartiva devices were unreasonably dangerous, unsafe, and/or defective
and could cause harm to those who used it, including Plaintift.

Detendants knew that implant migration into the bone was not preventable and is

unavoidable if undergoing the Cartiva SCI procedure.
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Detendants had superior knowledge about implant migration because it was in possession and had
access to facts and information about the condition that was not available to anyone else. As the
manufacturer of the device, Defendants were a centralized hub of information about the device’s adverse

=
effects, including migration. It had received thousands of reports of users developin@ condition, had
access to those person’s medical records and information regarding diagnosis, trg'%g%nt, and occurrence

e

rate, which it did not disclose to the medical community. Ky&
. . D o
Detendants had a duty to provide adequate warnings about lﬂ@lt shrinkage and migration, a
dangerous adverse effect of its Cartiva SCI system, to Plaintiff’s pr@@%ers.
Detendants failed to provide adequate warnings to Plain&@ providers because the language used
by Defendants to describe risks in its training materials: @

a. Inaccurate in content and ambiguous in manm%%g expression;

b. Did not adequately inform the provider@t a condition which is: 1) unfamiliar to the medical
community, 2) 1s only associated Wi@he Cartiva device, and 3) about which Defendants had
superior knowledge; o \©@

S
C. Creatively used insufﬁcient@ vague language that did not provide enough speciticity about the

condition, which was ary tor the Cartiva providers to know about the risks of using the

device; \©

d. Misrepreseng@cts about the adverse effect;

e. Did not @L@COHCI’G'[G terms like “shrinkage” and “implant migration” to describe the
risks; @
f. Did not warn that it is likely that multiple surgeries may be necessary to remove and/or correct a
fatled Cartiva SCI;
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g. Did not disclose that Cartiva implant failure can cause permanent nerve damage and deformity.
Detendants are liable for Plaintiff’s damages because its product was detective due to its failure to
adequately warn Cartiva SCI providers about the danger of the Cartiva Implant system.
As the direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongtul conduct, Plaintiff sufferCGd and continue
L

to suffer economic losses, emotional distress, permanent distfigurement, physical a@menml anguish,

impairment, diminished enjoyment of life, and future medical expenses. &
S
'$
o@
COUNT VII Q
VIOLATION OF TEXAS DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICE%& T/TREBLE DAMAGES
Plantitt repeats, reiterates and re-alleges each and every aion of this Complaint in each of the
toregoing paragraphs inclusive, with the same force and effe@;ﬁ@%f more fully set forth herein.
%)
Under the Texas Decptive Trade Practices %@(Secﬁon 17.41 of the Texas Business and
. S o

Commerce Code)(the "Act"), prohibits Defendan%ﬁg m using false, misleading, or deceptive business
practices to harm consumers in Texas. C§

Plaintiff 1s a "consumer" as deﬁnec@y@he Act.

As more ftully outlined above, @ndants have violated the act in one or more ways, including, but

not necessarily limited to the foll&i\né prohibited acts:

Q)
h. Causing co @%1 or misunderstanding by Plaintiff as to the certification and/or
)

quality o%e Cartiva Implant system;
Q‘\,\O
1. Ca%%m@:onfusion or misunderstanding by Plaintiff regarding the safety and efticacy of the
@@Qm Implant system;
] Using deceptive representatives upon Plantift with respect to the sales and

distribution of the Cariva Implant system:
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k. Misleading Plaintift to believe that the Cartiva Implant system thoroughly tested and

approved as a medical device by the FDA;

1. Misrepresenting the standard and quality of the Cartiva Implant system to Plaintift;

m.  Failing to disclose to Plaintitf information regarding the Cartiva Implant system that was
(
L

known to Defendants and was used to induce Plaintitf to use the Car@plant system;
n. Committing the unconscionable conduct of taking advantagg@ Plaintiff's lack of

knowledge, ability, experience, or capacity to induce Plainﬁf@se the Cartiva Implant
2
system. Q\

As the direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violaﬁo@@%f the Act, Plaintift sutfered and
continue to suffer economic losses, emotional distress, perma@ distigurement, physical pain, mental
anguish, diminished enjoyment of life and future medical e@nses.

Under the Act, Plantift 1s automatically em@ to an award of treble damages

against Defendants.

Plaintift repeats, reiterates %@—alleges each and every allegation of this Complaint in each of

the toregoing paragraphs 1nc1usu%\mth the same force and effect as if more fully set forth herein.

. . Q . . . . . . .
Defendants’ conduct in degeifang Cartiva system providers and/or convincing providers to participate

O

in the scheme, in not %@rming Plaintift of the seriousness, permanency, and frequency of implant

(N (

N

shrinkage and mig@i@g in concealing material information regarding the serious adverse effect of the
Cartiva imp@nd in creating a system by which consumers did not have fair access to important
information about Cartiva, was so reckless or wanting in care that it constituted a conscious disregard or
indifference to the life, safety, or rights of persons exposed to such conduct.

Defendants, as a corporation, actively and knowingly participated in the dissemination of

misrepresentations and concealment of materal information related to implant shrinkage and
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migration and its Cartiva SCI implant system.

Detendants and their agent’s malicious and fraudulent conduct must be punished to deter
tuture harm to others. Therefore, exemplary damages are appropriate under that the circumstances.

RULE 193.7 NOTICE

Pursuant to Rule 193.7 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintitt hereby g otice that
all documents produced by any Defendant in response to written discoveenticates the
document(s) for use against that party in any proceeding before the Court. \é}j

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT Q@Q&%

All conditions precedent to Plaintiff’s claims for relief have b @erformed or have occurred.

@@
&S
&

DESIGNATED E-SERVIC%@MAIL ADDRESS

JURY DEMAND

Plaintift demands a trial by jury.

<

The tollowing 1s the undersigned attomey’sé@gnated e-service email address for all e-served
documents and notices, filed and unﬁl@rsuam to Tex. R. Civ. P. 21(H)(2) & 2la:

brett@gibsonhillpc.com. This is the only @ervice email address, and service through any other email

O
address will be considered 1nvalid. <§§\

O
@Q% DAMAGES

Plamntift MATT'H{@%?/IULLINS herein pray for recovery of the following elements of damage:

b

L. Regsdénable and necessary medical and pharmacy expenses incurred in the past and that in

all reasonable bility will be incurred in the future;

O

2. Physical pain and mental anguish which has occurred in the past and that in all reasonable

probability will continue into the future;

3. Physical impairment which has occurred in the past and that in all reasonable probabulity
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will continue into the future;

4. Personal property damages;
5. Loss of earnings in the past and loss of eaming capacity which will, in all probability, be
incurred in the future;

6. Exemplary damages; &\(\:

@
7. Distigurement; @

LN
- O
8. Costs of court; and Ky&
-9
9. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the mwin@llowable rate.
9
9
@
EXEMPLARY DAMAGES )

For such gross negligence on behalf of Detendant, @ﬂ‘dff sues for exemplary damages in an

amount to be determined at trial. 0&\\%

P@@%R
WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONS@%ERED, Plaintiff MATTHEW MULLINS respectfully

prays that Defendant Cartiva, Inc., W@@@Medical Group, N.V., and Stryker B.V. be cited to appear

and that Plaintift recetve all relief t@ich they may be entitled, whether at law or in equity.

@Q Respecttully Submutted,
\©
) GIBSON HILL, P.C.
g‘%\@ By._/s/ Bret M. il
Brett Michael Hill

@© Texas State Bar No. 24072776
@ breti@eibsonbiiloc.com (e-service)
636 Hawthorne St.
Houston, Texas 77006
Telephone: (713) 659-4000
Facsimile: (713) 659-4001
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
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